Clerk of the Court Received 08/07/2023 03:42 PM Filed 08/07/2023 03:42 PM

## IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

# BRIAN E. MOORE *Appellant*

v.

UNITED STATES Appellee

## ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

Case No. 2018-CF3-011411

## EN BANC BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Sean R. Day D.C. Bar No. 452420 6411 Ivy Ln Ste 304 Greenbelt MD 20770-1405 301.220.2270 Sean@DayInCourt.Net Attorney for Appellant

## LIST OF ALL PARTIES, INTERVENORS, AMICI CURIAE, AND THEIR COUNSEL IN THE TRIAL COURT AND IN THE APPELLATE PROCEEDING

Party	Attorneys and Judges - Superior Court	Counsel - Appeal
Brian E. Moore	Kristin McGough	Sean R. Day

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

It is alleged that on April 12 and June 29, 2018, during the course of case number 2017-CCC-000057 (alleged violation of civil protective order), Brian Moore made threatening statements to his attorney about the prosecutor in that case. In this case Moore was charged by indictment with *Obstruction of Justice*<sup>1</sup> and *Threatening a District of Columbia Government Official*<sup>2</sup> (one pair of charges for each alleged threat).

There was a hearing on the applicability of the attorney-client privilege on February 25, 2019 (Honorable Craig Iscoe, Associate Judge). There was a jury trial May 29-31, 2019 (Honorable Milton C. Lee, Jr., Associate Judge). The jury returned guilty verdicts on all four counts. On July 31, 2019, Moore was sentenced to a total of eight (8) years

<sup>1</sup> <u>D.C. Code § 22-722</u>

<sup>2</sup> D.C. Code § 22-851

(c) A person who ... threatens ... any official or employee ... while the official or employee is engaged in the performance of his or her duties or on account of the performance of those duties, shall be fined ... or imprisoned not more than 3 years, or both[.]

<sup>(</sup>a) a person commits the offense of obstruction of justice if that person:
(5) ... threatens to injure any person ... on account of the person ... performing his [or her] official duty as a[n] ... officer in any court in the District of Columbia[.]

incarceration.

On November 17, 2022, a divided panel of this court reversed the trial court, published at *Moore v. United States*, 285 A.3d 228, 232 (D.C. 2022). On January 30, 2023, the government petitioned for rehearing *en banc*, which was granted on May 25, 2023.

Mr. Moore was tentatively due to be released following the division decision, but continues to be held pending *en banc* review as his detention continues to be governed by D.C. Code § 23-1325(c) (post-conviction detention).

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

### Background

Attorney John T. Harvey was appointed to represent Brian Moore on charges of non-violently contacting his wife in violation of a protective order. (5/30/19 at 85-86, 118) During the course of that case, Harvey claimed that Moore made threatening statements about the prosecutor in that case, Roseline Guest.<sup>3</sup> There was no evidence that Moore took any steps or preparation toward committing any violent acts or harassment toward Guest.

### **Privilege Hearing**

On February 25, 2019, the trial court held a hearing regarding the applicability of the attorney-client privilege. The parties agreed that for the purposes of the motion, the court would accept Harvey's October 26, 2018 grand jury testimony as true, and also rely on the transcripts and audio from the proceedings in 2017-CCC-000057 on April 12, June 29, and July 2, 2018. (2/25/19 pp. 5-6, 10, 37, 44-45.)<sup>4</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Moore denies making any of the alleged statements.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> <u>Notes Regarding Record</u>
 Note 1. Mr. Moore's *pro se* interlocutory appeal regarding release

In the grand jury proceeding, Harvey testified that the bench trial (Honorable Judith Smith, Associate Judge) in 2017-CCC-000057 started February 21, 2018, then was carried over to April 12, 2018. (Apx. 88-89) On April 12, 2018, Moore allegedly became agitated about Guest and with Harvey. According to Harvey, Moore said "I can't stand this bitch. I hate this bitch. Fuck this bitch." Harvey defended Guest as a prosecutor just doing her job. Moore said "What, are you trying to have sex with her or something?" Harvey repeated that Guest was just doing her job. Moore said, "She keep fucking with me I'm going to shoot this bitch. I'll fuck this bitch up." (Apx. 91) Moore added, "Yeah, Harvey. I will fuck this bitch up. I will shoot her ass." Harvey testified that Moore said he had "guns and

conditions (19-CO-0417) contains the record through the date of that notice of appeal. After the appeal from final judgment, the Clerk of the Superior Court submitted a supplemental record to this case number (*i.e.*, filings after the interlocutory notice of appeal, but not before).

Note 2. Moore's *Motion in Limine to Preclude the Testimony of Mr. Moore's Prior Attorney*, filed January 27, 2019, relied upon the transcripts and audio from proceedings in 2017-CCC-000057 on April 12, June 29, and July 2, 2018 (in part filed in the record in 19-CO-0417, and in part coming *via* a July 17, 2020, trial court order supplementing the record). The government filed Harvey's grand jury transcript with its opposition on February 21, 2019 (filed in the record in 19-CO-0417). These transcripts are provided in the Limited Appendix herein.

this and that. He started talking this nonsense." (91) Harvey testified that he told Moore he was taking Moore seriously. Moore said, "You goddamn right I'm serious." (91)

Harvey testified that he then called Bar Counsel and afterward asked Judge Smith to allow him to withdraw from the case. Judge Smith would not allow Harvey to withdraw unless he revealed Moore's statements, which Harvey declined to do at that point. (Apx. 92-93) Harvey testified that he called Bar Counsel again about his options, but Moore approached Harvey and told him "Man I was just bullshitting. So, you know, let's just leave it alone. Let's just go on for the trial." (93) Harvey told Moore that if Moore ever did anything like that again, he would believe Moore and disclose it to the court. (93)

The trial continued that afternoon (April 12, 2018) and the next day, but again the case did not finish and was carried over to June 11, 2018. (Apx. 93-94, correct date inserted herein.) On June 6, 2018, Harvey filed for a postponement of the June 11 trial date (due to Harvey's knee surgery) and requested that Moore, who resided in North Carolina, not be required to appear at the resulting June 12 status hearing solely for the purpose of signing a promise to appear for the next court date. (94-95) According to Harvey, Moore did not appear for the June 12 status hearing but did appear at the next date, June 29. (95)

On the late afternoon of Friday, June 29, 2018, the trial court ordered Moore to have an ankle GPS monitor but it was too late to accomplish that day so Moore would have to return to court on Monday, July 2. (Apx. 95) Harvey and Moore spoke in the hallway. Harvey described Moore as "out of control" and testified that Moore said "Harvey, I'm telling you right now, if I lose my job I'm going to bust a cap in that bitch [Guest]." (100)<sup>5</sup> Moore continued, "Fuck that bitch. Fuck that bitch. I'm going to shoot that bitch." (96) Harvey said "Man, what did I tell you about you making that kind of comment to me?" (96) Moore responded, "Fuck that bitch and fuck you, Harvey. I will fucking kill that bitch." (96)<sup>6</sup> Harvey responded with comparably coarse language. (100-1). Harvey told Moore that he was going to tell the judge, and according to Harvey, Moore said "Fuck that. Let's go in there right now." (101)

Harvey then went into the courtroom and approached the bench

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The alleged threats were conditional; *i.e.*, if Guest continued antagonizing him (April 12) and if Moore lost his employment (June 29).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Or not that he would kill her *per se*, but that he would "bust a cap in that bitch." (Apx. 96)

### without Moore:

Mr. Harvey: I can't represent him. And if you force me to tell you, then I'll just have to tell you this time.

Court: OK, I'm going to direct you to tell me because I've shared with you before -

Mr. Harvey: He's threatening to shoot her. I ain't representing him. We are adversaries but I respect Ms. Guest. I'm not representing that man. He said it again. I cannot represent him. So whatever needs to happen needs to happen but I believe him this time.

[Judge arranges to have someone from United States Marshals Service come to the courtroom.]

Mr. Moore: Judge, may I speak?

Court: No sir.

[Judge confirms with deputy marshal that he can take custody of Mr. Moore.]

(6/29/18 audio 5:00:20 p.m.)<sup>7</sup> Judge Smith then ordered Moore detained

and set the matter in for Monday, July 2, for ascertainment of counsel.<sup>8</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> This portion was omitted from the official transcript but was recovered from the courtroom audio and made part of the record; an unofficial transcription is at Apx. 33.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> After not hearing Moore on whether Harvey should be permitted/ required to disclose what Moore allegedly said, Judge Smith ordered Moore detained without an opportunity to be heard ("Judge, may I speak? *No sir.*"); further, Judge Smith did not advise Moore why his release conditions were summarily revoked. (Apx. 35-37) Mr. Moore has been

#### EN BANC BRIEF OF APPELLANT

The focus on July 2 was whether Harvey could withdraw from the case. Having consulted with colleagues on the judicial ethics committee, Judge Smith questioned the sincerity of the alleged threats, noting that it is not uncommon for disgruntled defendants to threaten an attorney or judge. ("[P]eople make threats all the time to get a judge off the case, to get a prosecutor off a case, to get an attorney off a case." Apx. 50-51.)<sup>9</sup> Harvey insisted that his relationship with Moore had become toxic. ("The relationship between he and I now has become toxic. Our ability to communicate — my skin starts to boil and so does his." Apx. 55.) After considerable exchanges with Judge Smith, Harvey was permitted to withdraw. As of July 2, 2018, Guest had not heard about the alleged

Moore stated that he still did not know what was going on: "I'm trying to figure out what's going on. I asked that Friday." (Apx. 60) Moore was not informed what the issue was.

locked up ever since (initially in the protective order case and then in this case).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Nonetheless, Judge Smith did not release Moore, which Judge Smith predetermined a second time without a hearing. Moore was asked his position regarding Harvey's withdrawal and a mistrial, and Moore stated that he wanted to seek outside advice before making a decision. Judge Smith let Moore know he would not be able to leave custody to speak with people: "Mr. Moore, I just want to be clear I'm not releasing you today." (Apx. 58)

threats and they were not disclosed to her that day. (77-80)

At the privilege hearing in this case the trial court analyzed the communications narrowly and in piecemeal fashion; focused on whether the alleged statements were, in isolation, for seeking legal advice; and concluded that Moore was stating what he was going to do, not seeking legal advice. (Apx. 111.) The trial court further concluded that Moore was understandably angry and that his statements were related to his anger, not getting legal advice. (111) The trial court noted that a single comment might merely be an "ill-advised" yet privileged statement, but that repeating the comments, among other factors, caused them to fall outside the privilege. (113-14)

#### Trial Evidence

Harvey testified that Moore was out on release but on April 12, 2018, Guest attempted to have Moore placed on GPS monitoring. (5/30/19 p. 88.) Harvey testified that when Moore made the alleged threats, Guest was not in the vicinity nor was anyone else close enough to hear the conversation; Harvey testified that "[t]here could have been other people around," but "[n]ot close enough to hear our conversation." (133-34)

15

Moments later Moore told Harvey, "I was just bullshitting, man. I was just bullshitting, man. I didn't mean it." (92)

Harvey testified that thereafter Moore missed a court date and on June 29, 2018, on Guest's request Moore was ordered to be fitted and monitored with an ankle GPS device. (5/30/19 p. 95.) This occurred late on a Friday afternoon and would require Moore, residing and working in North Carolina, to wait until Monday to have the GPS device affixed. (97-98) According to Harvey, Moore had job training on Monday and was concerned he would lose his job. (177-78) Harvey alleged that Moore said, "If I lose my job, I'm going to bust a cap in this bitch" and made a hand gesture in the form of a gun. (103-5)

Guest testified that she had already left and did not hear anything that was said. (5/30/19 at 56, 77-78.) There was no evidence that anyone other than Harvey was in hearing range; video shows an empty courthouse hallway other than Harvey and Moore (with Guest initially chatting with Harvey but walking away when Moore exited the courtroom). (Video stills from 6/29/18 at Apx. 29-33.)<sup>10</sup>

 $<sup>^{10}</sup>$  A courthouse security officer testified that he could not recover video for the 4/12/18 incident due to the passage of time.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Mr. Moore's statements were protected by attorney-client privilege. Other courts have rejected looking at attorney-client communications in "piecemeal" fashion and have held that statements such as those attributed to Mr. Moore are within the scope of the attorney-client privilege. There is an exception for statements seeking the attorney's assistance in committing a crime: the "crime-fraud exception." However, statements of intent to commit a crime do not, without more, fall within the crime-fraud exception because such statements are not using the attorney's advice to commit a crime. Rule of Professional Conduct 1.6 does not change the outcome. Rules of professional conduct govern the conduct of attorneys; they do not change the law governing privileges. Rule 1.6 allows an attorney to disclose a client's statement where the attorney believes disclosure is needed to prevent death or bodily harm. Working together, the attorney-client privilege and Rule 1.6 serve the public interests in promoting free and open communications with lawyers (who may discourage illegal conduct) while allowing attorneys to disclose communications as deemed necessary to protect life and safety without fear of becoming a witness against the client.

#### ARGUMENT

#### MR. MOORE'S ALLEGED STATEMENTS WERE PRIVILEGED

#### A. Standard of Review

Because the legal aspects on this issue are dominant, *de novo* review applies. *In re Pub. Def. Serv.*, 831 A.2d 890, 898 (D.C. 2003).

#### B. Introduction

As an initial matter, Mr. Moore notes that the language, repetition, mood, and circumstances of the alleged statements suggest anger, frustration, and fantasy, not genuine threats. As noted, there was no allegation that Mr. Moore took any steps toward harming Ms. Guest even though he was free between the first set of alleged statements (April 12) and the second (June 29). And Mr. Harvey testified that he made the disclosures because it was required to get out of the case, not due to public safety concerns.<sup>11</sup>

But even if the alleged threats were made and were serious, public safety is served by preserving the privilege. As courts have held (discussed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> "I asked to withdraw. And if ... the only way to get out of the case would be for her to order me to tell her what he said, that I would. She did [order me to tell her]. And I did." (5/30/19 p. 184.)

below), encouraging open communication gets the client's thoughts to the attorney, who can then counsel the client against foolish and unlawful actions. If the attorney believes disclosure is necessary, Rule of Prof. Cond. 1.6 allows disclosure; if the underlying statements then lose the privilege, however, an attorney weighing disclosure would have to consider that it may put them on the witness stand in a criminal case against their client. That would deter attorneys from making disclosures that would allow authorities to investigate threats and prevent potential harm. Even Mr. Harvey was reluctant to do so, declining the first time and doing so the second time only after Judge Smith required disclosure for Mr. Harvey to get out of the case.

The division majority was correct to consider the attorney-client privilege in the relevant context of the case — here, a court-appointed attorney and an indigent defendant. An indigent defendant has not researched, interviewed, and freely chosen an attorney he or she trusts and believes in; rather, the court, part of the same system that is prosecuting the indigent defendant, has selected the attorney for him or her. Trust and candor are essential in an attorney-client relationship, and given that an attorney is appointed for, not selected by, an indigent

#### EN BANC BRIEF OF APPELLANT

defendant, such a relationship is disadvantaged in this regard. "Many indigent criminal defendants are suspicious of the government-funded counsel to which they are constitutionally entitled." United States v. Wright, 923 F.3d 183, 191 (D.C. Cir. 2019). It is therefore important that the attorney-client privilege be considered in context to serve its purpose of uninhibited communication. "The attorney-client privilege is the oldest of the privileges for confidential communications known to the common law. Its purpose is to encourage full and frank communication between attorneys and their clients and thereby promote broader public interests in the observance of law and administration of justice." Upjohn Co. v. United States, 449 U.S. 383, 389, 101 S. Ct. 677, 682 (1981). The privilege is worthy of "maximum legal protection." In re Pub. Def. Serv., 831 A.2d at 900 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). To promote full and frank communications, the court should consider real-world circumstances of the particular attorney-client relationship, including the type of relationship, the type of case, and the stressors and challenges commonly involved.<sup>12</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> An indigent defendant is also more likely to have untreated mental health issues, behavioral difficulties, and/or lack of education, and therefore have a diminished ability to articulate and vent frustration in a

Even without considering that Mr. Moore had a court-appointed attorney, however, the alleged statements were privileged.

There are two questions in determining whether a statement is privileged: (1) whether the statement is otherwise within the privilege, and (2) whether an exception applies. At least one appellate court has connected these questions, determining that if the communication is not within the exception, it is within the privilege.

## C. The alleged statements were within the scope of the privilege.

Regarding the scope of the privilege, this court and the Supreme Court of Maryland have adopted the *Wigmore on Evidence* formulation of the privilege. *Jones v. United States*, 828 A.2d 169, 175 (D.C. 2003); *Newman v. State*, 384 Md. 285, 302, 863 A.2d 321, 331 (2004).<sup>13</sup> So, then, the attorney-

careful and moderated manner.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Wigmore on Evidence § 2292 formulation of the attorney-client privilege:
(1) where legal advice of any kind is sought (2) from a professional legal advisor in his capacity as such, (3) the communications relating to that purpose, (4) made in confidence (5) by the client, (6) are at his instance permanently protected (7) from disclosure by himself or by the legal adviser, (8) except the protection be waived.

client privilege applies to communications related to the purpose of legal

representation. *Jones*, 828 A.2d at 174-75 (citing *Wigmore*). In deciding whether a statement is for the purpose of legal representation, courts should not look at statements in a piecemeal fashion, going line-by-line and word-by-word through an attorney-client conversation looking for a statement that — in calm scholarly hindsight — might not have been necessary for the representation.

The Supreme Court of Maryland has applied the privilege broadly. In *Newman*, Ms. Newman was involved in an acrimonious divorce and custody battle. She and a friend who was assisting her met with Newman's attorney in preparation for trial. In the lawyer's presence Newman and her friend discussed plans to kill one of the couple's two children and blame Newman's husband. Newman told her lawyer, "You know, I don't have to kill both children. I only need to kill Lars because I can save Herbie, and then [my husband] will go to jail and get what he deserves because he is a criminal, and I can at least save Herbie." *Newman*, 384 Md. at 291. The attorney disclosed the communications to the court. The Supreme Court of Maryland held the statements were privileged because they "occurred during the existence of [the] attorney-client relationship" and "were related to the [legal matter]." Newman, 384 Md. at 306.

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