EN BANC BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Received 10/06/2023 09:19 PM Filed 10/06/2023 09:19 PM

No.	19-CF-687

BRIAN E. MOORE,

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CRIMINAL DIVISION

MATTHEW M. GRAVES United States Attorney

- * CHRISELLEN R. KOLB
 JOHN P. MANNARINO
 KATHERINE M. KELLY
 D.C. Bar #426343
 Assistant United States Attorneys
 - * Counsel for Oral Argument 601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232 Washington, D.C. 20530 Chrisellen.R.Kolb@usdoj.gov (202) 252-6829

Cr. No. 2018-CF3-11411

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

Moore (at 28) and amicus (at 19-20) nonetheless argue that Moore's expressions of frustration and anger related to his effort to get legal assistance. Similarly, the majority asserted that the "significant purpose" of Moore's threats was to obtain Harvey's legal advice about the government's effort to restrict the conditions of his release in the contempt case. *Moore*, 285 A.3d at 250-51. The record refutes this claim. Moore made the threats in the public hallway at the conclusion of court

proceedings after the judge had resolved a disputed evidentiary issue and rejected the AAG's request to place Moore on a GPS monitor on April 12 (Tr. 5/30/19:89-90) and after the judge decided on June 29 (Tr. 5/30/19: 55, 98-106) to place him on GPS monitoring instead of detaining him. Moore sought no legal guidance of any kind. Instead, he voiced his anger about the outcome and then threatened to shoot the prosecutor. Although Moore's statements "may have referred to the effect of the [judge's] decision on his state of mind," these threatening statements were not made to obtain legal advice, whether about the advisability of murdering the prosecutor or any other issue. Stafford, 2017 WL 1954410, at *3.

Implicitly acknowledging that his threats were not requests for legal advice in the Wigmore sense, Moore suggests (at 18) that "the language, repetition, mood, and circumstances of the alleged statements suggest anger, frustration, and fantasy, not genuine threats." This argument merely repeats the sufficiency claim unanimously rejected by the panel, which is not at issue before the en banc Court. Moore further contends (at 28) that the Court must adopt a broad attorney-client privilege because hapless defendants will be unable to discern "[w]hat level of anger . . . is allowed before they inadvertently trip[] the invisible

trigger that causes statements to go from privileged to unprivileged[.]" However, "[i]gnorance of the law' generally does not excuse a person from criminal liability, absent the 'unusual circumstance[]' in which the person 'had no reason to believe that the act for which he was convicted was a crime, or even that it was wrongful." *Beachum v. United States*, 197 A.3d 508, 511 (D.C. 2018) (upholding stalking statute) (cleaned up). The term "[t]hreat' has a particular meaning and distinguishes a particular class of language which is prohibited." *United States v. Young*, 376 A.2d 809, 814 (D.C. 1977). Moore cannot credibly claim that the ordinarily privileged part of a conversation with counsel would encompass threats to shoot the prosecutor.

The panel majority similarly downplayed the criminal nature of the statements as part of the "basic dynamic" between attorney and client in a stressful criminal case. *Moore*, 285 A.3d at 250-52. The majority also excused Moore's criminal threats by attributing them to "the fact that Mr. Harvey was ineffective in counseling his client and failed to help him regain his composure and perspective." *Moore*, 285 A.2d at 251.³ In the

³ Although the majority criticized Harvey's conduct, some commentators have endorsed the general approach taken by Harvey. See, e.g., 24 (continued . . .)

same vein, amicus asserts (at 20) that "the lawyer needs to hear the anger" to "remove it as an obstacle to the client's meaningful participation in the representation." To be sure, lawyers must often defuse volatile situations with angry clients. However, as Judge Thompson's dissent points out, 285 A.3d at 254, Moore could have expressed anger and hostility, as he did when he repeatedly said, "F*ck that bitch," without uttering criminal threats to "shoot that bitch," or to "bust a cap in this bitch." Whether Harvey could have done a better job tamping down his client's rage is beside the point. Moore is ultimately responsible for his own conduct. Adopting the majority's view would give criminal defendants freedom to cross the line from angry words to criminal threats, provided that those threats are made in the presence of counsel. The Court should reject that result.

Kenneth W. Graham & Ann Murphy, Federal Practice and Procedure (Evidence), at § 5490 (footnote omitted) (noting that "one way of discouraging [a client's threats] is to have the lawyer inform the client that the threat is not privileged and if not recanted will be reported to the proper authorities").

B. Protecting Criminal Threats Does Not Serve the Salutary Purposes of the Attorney-Client Privilege.

Evidentiary privileges "must be strictly construed and accepted 'only to the very limited extent that permitting a refusal to testify or excluding relevant evidence has a public good transcending the normally predominant principle of utilizing all rational means for ascertaining truth." Trammel v. United States, 445 U.S. 40, 50 (1980) (quoting Elkins v. United States, 364 U.S. 206, 234 (1960) (Frankfurter, J., dissenting)). In particular, the attorney-client privilege is "not absolute" and does not shield client communications "where application of the attorney-client privilege would not serve the purpose for which it is intended." Adams, 924 A.2d at 999 (quotation and citation omitted).4 Because criminal

⁴ For example, "the seal of secrecy between lawyer and client does not extend to communications made for the purpose of getting advice for the commission of a fraud or crime." *United States v. Zolin*, 491 U.S. 554, 563 (1989) (cleaned up). Similarly, a witness's attorney-client privilege must yield when it conflicts with a defendant's rights under the Confrontation Clause. *See*, *e.g.*, *Neku v. United States*, 620 A.2d 259, 262-63 (D.C. 1993) (prior inconsistent statement by a critical government witness otherwise protected by the attorney-client privilege "must be admitted . . . if, in the trial judge's view, it is sufficiently probative on credibility to outweigh the interest served by the privilege") (internal footnote omitted). And the privilege must yield when necessary to save a child from abduction in a custody battle. *In re Jacqueline F.*, 391 N.E.2d 967, 970-72 (N.Y. 1979) (continued . . .)

threats are not part of the "full and frank communication between attorneys and their clients" tending to "promote broader public interests in the observance of law and administration of justice," *id.* at 998, Moore may not fairly invoke the privilege to exclude Harvey's testimony about his criminal threats to shoot the prosecutor.⁵

"True threats subject individuals to fear of violence and to the many kinds of disruption that fear engenders," and are therefore criminal offenses. *Counterman v. Colorado*, 143 S. Ct. 2106, 2114 (2023) (internal

⁽requiring attorney to disclose client's location where client fled jurisdiction to gain unlawful custody of a child). *Cf. United States v. Seminole*, 865 F.3d 1150, 1152 (9th Cir. 2017) (compelling spouse to testify against husband in domestic-violence case despite spouse's invocation of privilege).

⁵ Amicus argues (at 21 n.9) that "there is no basis to conclude that Mr. Moore's threats gave rise to a reasonable belief that disclosure was necessary to prevent death or substantial bodily harm," particularly since "such a belief would have triggered an exception to Mr. Harvey's duty to maintain Mr. Moore's confidences" under D.C. R. Prof'l. Conduct 1.6(c)(1). To the contrary, Harvey testified that he was "extremely concerned" after Moore threatened to shoot the prosecutor (Tr. 5/30/19: 106). Bar Counsel advised that Rule 1.6 afforded Harvey discretion in reporting the threats to the judge, and Harvey decided to try to keep Moore's secrets (*id.* at 90-91). Harvey's decision to report the details of Moore's threats only when ordered to do so by the judge does not suggest that he did not perceive Moore's statements to be criminal. Instead, the judicial order made Harvey's decision to disclose an easy one, not subject to second-guessing by the client or others.

quotation and citation omitted). See also Jennifer E. Rothman, Freedom of Speech and True Threats, 25 Harv. J.L. & Pub. Pol'y 283, 367 (2001) (listing four reasons for prosecuting threats: (1) the need to protect people from the fear of violence; (2) the need to prevent the disruption that that fear engenders; (3) the need to incarcerate people who have identified themselves as likely to carry out a threatened crime before they have the opportunity to perpetrate the crime; and (4) the need to prevent people from being coerced into acting against their will). When the client utters criminal threats in the attorney's presence, the attorney has witnessed a crime. Therefore, contrary to amicus's claim (at 24), the fact that Moore's threat was itself a completed crime is not "a red herring." "[T]he privilege does not extend to a client act simply because the client performed the act in the lawyer's presence." Restatement (Third) of the Law Governing

⁶ Amicus (at 23-24) argues that an exception for criminal threats "would sweep far broader than any public policy concern about preventing the harm of death or serious injury to others" because the District's commonlaw threats offense focuses on preventing fear in the hearer, as opposed to death or injury per se. However, threats themselves are punishable in the criminal law for reasons wholly independent of any subsequent death or injury to the subject or hearer of the threat. Moreover, the Rules of Professional Responsibility, particularly Rule 1.6(c), entrust lawyers with discretion to reveal only those threats deemed sufficiently serious to warrant judicial intervention.

Lawyers § 69e (May 2023 Update). This Court has also acknowledged that the privilege would not apply "if the attorney-client communication itself materially advances a crime or fraud." In re PDS, 831 A.2d at 902 (emphasis added). Because Moore's threatening statements were crimes, the privilege should not apply.

Commentators have endorsed this approach. Although not mentioned by amicus, Professor Imwinkelried has argued that "the case for recognizing a categorical exception for client statements amounting to illegal threats is stronger than the case for the well-settled crime/fraud exception to the attorney-client privilege." Edward J. Imwinkelried, Parsing Privilege: Does the Attorney-Client Privilege Attach to an Angry Client's Criminal Threat Voiced During an Otherwise Privileged Attorney-Client Consultation?, 72 Case W. Res. L. Rev. 871, 904 (2022).

⁷ As noted in our opening brief (at 20-21), *In re PDS*, 831 A.2d at 895-902, did not address whether the crime-fraud exception would apply where the statement itself – such as a threat – was a crime. Although the Court here need not invoke the crime-fraud exception, that rule would militate against affording the protection of the privilege to a threat uttered in the presence of counsel. Indeed, it would be incongruous to hold that the privilege does not apply "if the attorney-client communication itself *materially advances* a crime or fraud," *In re PDS*, 831 A.2d at 902 (emphasis added), and then to hold in this case that the privilege would apply to a communication that *is itself* a crime.

A bright-line rule that removes criminal threats from the protection of the privilege would best advance the interests of justice and protect the client. Given a bright-line standard, "an attorney could more readily sense that a client's outburst was escalating to the point that the client was about to cross the line and preemptively both warn and remonstrate with the client" and "a judge could readily single out that statement as a threat" from other confidential communications. *Id.* at 906.

Citing *United States v. Chase*, 340 F.3d 978, 982 (9th Cir. 2003),⁸ Moore argues (at 34) that "statements that are the completed crime of threats should be protected the same as statements admitting a completed crime." However, Moore ignores two important distinctions

⁸ Moore's reliance on the psychiatrist-patient privilege does not get him far. Unlike in the attorney-client context, a client's threatening statements are often symptomatic of the underlying emotional condition entrusted to the psychiatrist's care. Moreover, in *Jaffee v. Redmond*, 518 U.S. 1, 18 n.19 (1996), the Supreme Court acknowledged that "there are situations in which the privilege must give way, for example, if a serious threat of harm to the patient or to others can be averted only by means of a disclosure by the therapist." Courts have thereafter debated the circumstances under which a psychiatrist may be compelled to testify. See Blake R. Hills, *The Cat Is Already Out of the Bag: Resolving the Circuit Split over the Dangerous Patient Exception to the Psychotherapist-Patient Privilege*, 49 U. Balt. L. Rev. 153, 160 (2020).

between criminal threats and admission of past crimes. First, the client's admission of past crimes enables the lawyer to render legal advice about them; threats are not uttered for the purpose of obtaining legal assistance. Second, the attorney hearing the threat is a percipient witness to a crime, whereas an attorney hearing his client's confession is merely a witness to a statement, not the crime itself.

Moore (at 19-20) and amicus (at 21-22) insist that excluding criminal threats from the privilege would deter clients from providing unfiltered information to counsel and thereby impair the administration of justice. Not so. Courts should expect indigent clients – like everyone else – to engage meaningfully with counsel without uttering criminal threats. Taken at face value, Moore and amicus would permit a defendant to express frustration with counsel's performance by threatening to kill or rape the lawyer in the name of "fostering trust," *Moore*, 285 A.2d at 248-49, or chalk it up to "a missed opportunity for counseling[.]" *Id.* at 251. Such an outcome would poison the attorney-client relationship and undermine the administration of justice.

In any event, as the dissent noted, *Moore*, 285 A.3d at 254 n.3, the fear of chilling client communication is overblown. Indeed, "[t]here have

been several empirical studies of the impact of the evidentiary privileges on the willingness of clients and patients to confide in professional consultants, and those studies do not bear out Wigmore's generalization" about the need for absolute confidentiality in the attorney-client relationship. Edward J. Imwinkelried, Questioning the Behavioral Assumption Underlying Wigmorean Absolutism in the Law of Evidentiary Privileges, 65 U. Pitt. L. Rev. 145, 156 (2004). See also Dru Stevenson, Against Confidentiality, 48 U.C. Davis L. Rev. 337, 346-48 (2014) (the premise for the confidentiality rules "is a fiction"; "clients regularly lie to their lawyers or withhold relevant information" and "[m]ost clients do not know or understand the confidentiality rules, so it is unreasonable to talk of clients relying on the rules").

Moore (at 24-29) and amicus (at 21-23) also place heavy reliance on *Purcell v. Dist. Att'y for Suffolk Dist.*, 676 N.E.2d 436 (Mass. 1997), *In re Grand Jury Investigation*, 902 N.E.2d 929 (Mass. 2009), and *State v. Boatwright*, 401 P.3d 657 (Kan. Ct. App. 2017), to argue that creating a threats exception would undermine public safety by hampering the lawyer's ability to dissuade the client from an unlawful course of conduct. This objection misses the mark. When a client expresses frustration or

anger, the lawyer has every incentive to dissuade the client from crossing the line into criminal threats, thereby fulfilling the lawyer's advisory role envisioned by the Court in *In re PDS*, 831 A.2d at 900-01. Indeed, *In re Grand Jury Investigation* and *Boatwright* do not grapple with the fact that the clients' threatening statements in those cases were, standing alone, criminal offenses. Both courts erroneously treat these criminal threats as harmless "frustration," *Boatwright*, 401 P.3d at 442, and expressions of "dissatisfaction with the legal system and its participants," *In re Grand Jury Investigation*, 902 N.E.2d at 933. The jury in Moore's case correctly concluded otherwise.

Purcell does not advance Moore's claims here, either. While discussing his eviction with counsel, the client in Purcell threatened to burn the apartment building. 676 N.E.2d at 437-38. Because Purcell involved a client's expressed intent to commit a future crime, the lawyer's role in dissuading the client from committing arson was a relevant consideration. See id. at 441 ("Unless the crime-fraud exception applies, the attorney-client privilege should apply to communications concerning possible future, as well as past, criminal conduct, because an informed lawyer may be able to dissuade the client from improper future conduct")

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